FILED September 4, 2015 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

32841-4-III

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

MARCO A. GALLEGOS, APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF YAKIMA COUNTY

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Janet G. Gemberling Attorney for Appellant

JANET GEMBERLING, P.S. PO Box 8754 Spokane, WA 99203 (509) 838-8585

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Trial counsel's failure to request a jury instruction on accomplice credibility was ineffective assistance.
- 2. The evidence was insufficient to support a finding of premeditation.
- More than sixteen months of unnecessary delay violated
 Mr. Gallegos's constitutional right to a speedy trial.

B. ISSUES

- The only evidence of the defendant's complicity in two murders was provided by three codefendants. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance by failing to request a cautionary jury instruction on the reliability of accomplice testimony?
- 2. No evidence showed the murder was planned. The victim assaulted one of the participants and "within a split second" shots were fired. The victim died almost immediately. Does this evidence support a finding of premeditation?
- 3. The State did not obtain the evidence necessary to support the defendant's conviction, namely the testimony of the codefendants, until 14 months after his arrest. During this

time the State resisted severance alleging the codefendants' statements could be redacted for use at trial, thereby obtaining continuances over the defendant's consistent objections and requests for a speedy trial. Did the unjustified delays violate the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A couple of people saw a car off the road near Roza Dam and noticed a dead body in the back seat. (RP 378) Officers from the Kittitas County Sheriff's office went to the scene. (RP 382-90) The car was taken to the Sheriff's office where the deceased, later identified as Ryan Pederson, was removed from the back seat, taken to the hospital for x-rays and then to the funeral home to await the arrival of the pathologist. (RP 404, 432-35) There was a lot of blood on the back seat. (RP 433)

After Mr. Pederson was removed from the car, Detective Andrea Blume noticed a wire hanging out of the trunk. (RP 437) Detective Blume was aware that the car was registered to Mike Eby and the person in the back seat did not match Mr. Eby's description. (RP 438) The decision was made to pop the trunk. (RP 438) There was another body in the back of the trunk, wrapped in plastic bags and bound with duct tape.

(RP 439) This body was identified as Mr. Eby and transported to the hospital and funeral home as well. (RP 443-44)

Mr. Eby's daughter Ashleigh had already reported her father missing, so a few days after the bodies were discovered she came to the police station to give information about his disappearance. (RP 641) She told Detective Blume that she and her father had recently associated with a person named Loks, later identified as Jose Pineda. (RP 641) According to Ms. Eby, on the night of his death her father had been planning on meeting Mr. Pineda. (RP 643)

After talking with Ms. Eby, Detective Blume obtained cell phone records for Mr. Pineda, Mr. Eby, Mr. Pederson, and Ms. Eby. (RP 797) With information from these records, Detective Blume determined that Mr. Eby had had numerous calls to and from Mr. Pineda, the last call from Mr. Eby's phone was made in the vicinity of Fruitvale and Hathaway, and around that time calls from Mr. Pineda's phone put him in the same vicinity. (RP 799-800) During her interview, Ms. Eby had mentioned that she and her father had recently visited the home of Troy Whalen, which was located near Fruitvale and Hathaway. (RP 803-804)

Around this time, Yakima police were investigating a report that Mr. Eby and Duane Martin had been assaulted in Mr. Whalen's garage, and property including two guns had been taken from them. (RP 808-09)

The assault and robbery had taken place a few months earlier, and Mr. Martin had been assaulted by Mr. Pineda. (RP 809) Based on this information, police had obtained a search warrant. (RP 809) Although Detective Blume was not involved in the search, she learned that blood stains and a bullet had been found in the garage. (RP 810) Electrical wire similar to the wire that had been around Mr. Eby's wrapped body was also found. (RP 810-11)

Based on this information, Detective Blume obtained a warrant to search Mr. Whalen's garage for evidence relating to Mr. Eby's death. (RP 931) After finding numerous items that appeared to support the inference Mr. Eby had been killed in Mr. Whalen's garage, police detained Mr. Whalen. (RP 946-47) Mr. Whaley identified Mr. Pineda and described two other individuals he identified as EB and Dabs as having been present when Mr. Eby was killed and when Mr. Pederson was kidnapped and killed. (RP 947-48) In a subsequent interview, Mr. Pineda identified these individuals as Heriberto Villa and Marco Gallegos. (RP 949)

On February 6, 2013 the State charged Marco Gallegos with unlawful possession of a firearm and two counts of aggravated murder, all committed on December 20, 2012. (CP 1-2) The information named Mr. Pineda, Mr. Whalen and Mr. Villa as codefendants. (CP 1-2) Trial was set for April 1, 2013. (CP 3)

On March 21 the trial date was continued to June 24 because "the State needs time to obtain results and further investigation related to case (WSP crime lab ect.) Defense needs time to review discovery and prepare for trial." (CP 4) Mr. Gallegos refused to waive his right to speedy trial but his lawyer did not object. (CP 4)

On June 13, 2013, the trial court scheduled a hearing for June 24, 2013 to hear Mr. Gallegos's pro se motion for new counsel and motion for severance. (CP 6) The court granted the State's motion for a continuance of the trial date to November 25, 2013 "to track with the other codefendants & judicial economy." (CP 6) Mr. Gallegos objected to the continuance. (CP 6)

On October 4, "Troy Whalen expressed interest in cooperating and submitted to a screening interview. That was a one hour and 22 minute interview that was recorded." \(^1\) (SRP 143)\(^2\)

On November 14, trial was rescheduled for December 16. (CP 7) The scheduling order does not indicate whether Mr. Gallegos waived his right to speedy trial or his lawyer agreed to the continuance. (CP 7) No reason is given for the continuance. (CP 7)

¹ The chronology of events involving codefendants' recorded statements and cooperation agreements was provided to the court at the July 3 argument on Mr. Gallegos's motion to dismiss for violation of his right to a speedy trial. (SRP 143-46)

² A three-volume report of various pretrial proceedings, paginated separately from the trial transcript, is referenced as SRP.

"On November 20th, 2013, Jose Pineda agreed to submit to a screening interview or a free talk with the prosecutor's office. That interview lasted one hour and 26 minutes. It was recorded." (SRP 144)

"On December 2nd, 2013, Heriberto Villa agreed to submit to a screening interview or a free tack [sic] with the prosecutor's office. The interview lasted one hour and 51 minutes. The interview was recorded." (SRP 146)

The issue of severance was discussed at the omnibus hearing on December 11, 2014. (RP 9-10; CP 7, 10) The deputy prosecutor explained that there were potential issues relating to hearsay statements of at least one co-defendant and discussed with the court the necessity of redacting a codefendant's written statement in order to avoid severance. (RP 10-11) The deputy prosecutor acknowledged that this needed to be done soon and stated it was at the top of his list. (RP 10-11) Counsel for Mr. Gallegos stated that he was opposing further continuances and the decision on severance would depend on the State's decisions. (RP 24) The court granted the State's motion for an order setting the trial date for April 14, 2014 to permit "additional trial preparation." (CP 10)

"On December 19, 2013, Heriberto Villa agreed to submit to an additional screening interview or free talk with the prosecutor's office.

That lasted -- the free talk lasted one hour and 23 minutes. That interview was recorded." (SRP 146)

At a hearing on January 21, 2014, Mr. Gallegos's lawyer reminded the court that the deputy prosecutor had been instructed to advise the parties as to the State's position on severance, explaining that he was reluctant to brief the issue in the event the State would be agreeing to sever and that, without that decision, it was impossible for him to schedule interviews with likely witnesses. (SRP 6) The court noted that identification of pretrial motions was necessarily delayed until the State determined its position on severance:

The state was going to be ready to deliver their position on the severance issue, whether they were going to concede, whether they believed that all these gentlemen could, in fact, be tried together. So the state was going to be letting the court know as well as defense counsel their position on the severance issue.

(SRP 7) The court also noted that at the previous hearing the State had been ordered to file a witness list but had not yet done so. (SRP 12-13) Mr. Gallegos's attorney again argued to the court that the lack of a witness list was contributing to unavoidable delay in filing defense motions. (SRP 18) ³ The court entered an order continuing the status conference to

³ The court asked counsel to email her any authority that would be helpful to the court, with service on other parties: "[A]nything that's going to be compelling authority that either side want me to look at, I ask that it be sent by way of e-mail, obviously with all

February 7 and requiring the State to have established its position on severance and to provide a witness list. (CP 11)

At the February 7 hearing the court asked about the severance issue and the deputy prosecutor told the court: "At this point, Judge, it's the state's position that they remain joined. That may or may not change. At this point that's the state's position. Obviously if counsel files motions the state will respond to the motions for severance." (CP 51) Asked whether he was aware of any possible issues relating to the admissibility of codefendants' statements, the deputy prosecutor responded:

I'm very concerned about that. The question is whether I can redact them. I think under the court rule I receive a motion, a formal motion of severance, then I will go and redact. I don't know who's going to make it or not. That's going to depend greatly on who or what statements may need to be redacted to comply with Bruton.

(CP 52) The court noted that it had been apparent that all defense counsel were moving for severance, but the deputy prosecutor responded that without a formal motion for severance from each defendant, the State would not be willing to undertake a determination to redact the "very long"

other parties being notified of what's being sent. Again, I would like to be proactive in the research area." (1/31/14 RP 17)

the research area. (1/31/14 RP 17)

interview." ⁴ (CP 52) The court then asked each defense counsel to expressly indicate an intent as to severance, commenting:

"If everybody is moving for severance, then to just have the argument under the court rule and the case law as to whether joinder or severance is appropriate isn't going to get us there. We need to have the statements and the state's position regarding redactions to discuss for purposes of that hearing."

(CP 53) The deputy prosecutor objected, contending he could not respond to a motion for severance without any briefing or statement of the defense theory. (CP 71) The court explained:

"Severance is not a surprise here, Mr. Clements. . . . The only reason I set this off as far as I did is it was clear to me, and I think it was clear to you that that was going to be their position. We can sit here and reference the court rule, and I'm fine with that. What I'm trying to do is eliminate the meaningless steps."

(CP 72) Eventually, the deputy prosecutor conceded: "Well, I think that we could redact potentially. I think some of these issues may resolve, but I can't make a record on that at this juncture. I think that's what I'm trying to hint at, but I'm not going to go much further than that." (CP 83)

At the March 7 hearing the State advised the parties that Messrs. Pineda and Whalen would be appearing as cooperating witnesses for the State. (CP 124) Counsel for Mr. Villa testified that they would be

⁴ The deputy prosecutor is presumably referring to statements provided by Mr. Pineda and Mr. Villa, transcripts of which had apparently been provided to defense counsel on an unspecified date.

offering a defense of diminished capacity, and the parties discussed whether severance was still an issue in light of Mr. Gallegos's defense of general denial. (CP 132, 134)

At the March 28 hearing, counsel for Mr. Villa and Mr. Gallegos argued in favor of severance. (CP 155-62)⁵ Noting that, because neither the court nor counsel had had any intimation that Mr. Pineda or Mr. Whalen was considering testifying, their recent agreement to do so raised entirely new issues with respect to severance. (CP 175-76) The court declined to grant the motion for severance. (CP 175)

On April 11 the State disclosed for the first time that it had obtained statements from the sole remaining codefendant, Mr. Villa, and requested a ruling from the court on whether those statements must be disclosed to Mr. Gallegos under the discovery rules. (CP 207) Mr. Villa's attorney argued such disclosure was precluded by an immunity agreement entered into between Mr. Villa and the State prohibiting use of the statements. (CP 209) Although the record discloses that Mr. Villa had made several statements subject to immunity agreements, neither the court nor Mr. Gallegos's counsel had been aware of such statements. (CP 212) The deputy prosecutor explained that with respect to Mr. Villa, as had

-

⁵ Mr. Kirkham rested largely on his brief which, unfortunately, was never filed with the court.

been the case with Messrs. Pineda and Whalen, the State's position was that it was entitled to withhold disclosure of the fact or timing of any statements of codefendants while evaluating their implications for purposes of severance or plea negotiations and declined to agree to severance. (CP 217; see RP 66) Trial was rescheduled for May 5. (CP 44)

On April 30 the court entered an order granting its own motion for a continuance of the trial date to July 14 because "ongoing motions needed to be briefed and argued which will be relevant to trial and may be dispositive. Also evidentiary hearings that will affect evidence allowed at trial." (CP 46)

At the June 26 hearing the State agreed to sever the defendants' trials. (SRP 45) The court set Mr. Gallegos's trial for July 14. (RP 60)

On July 3 the court heard Mr. Gallagos's motion to dismiss for speedy trial violation. The State advised that an essential witness, the pathologist who performed the autopsies, had been in New Zealand since January, would be there until August 15, and could only be brought to Yakima for trial testimony at a cost to the County of about \$20,000. (SRP 67-69) The State conceded no effort had been made to contact Dr. Wigren until after June 26. (SRP 112) Following an extended analysis of the

issues, the Court denied Mr. Gallegos's motion to dismiss for violation of his right to a speedy trial. (RP 188-206)

On July 10, the deputy prosecutor explained to the court that Yakima County had not been aware of Dr. Wigran's unavailability for the past six months because, although the evidence now shows Mr. Eby was killed in Yakima County, the bodies were found in Kittitas County and the autopsies were performed in Kittitas County, so the pathologist was employed by Kittitas County and Yakima County had not been made aware of his whereabouts. (RP 244-45) Counsel for Mr. Gallegos pointed out that the State had made no efforts to obtain Dr. Wigren's presence at trial, whether by way of a contract or a subpoena, until late June. (RP 267) At the conclusion of the hearing, Mr. Gallegos's trial remained set to begin on July 14.

On the morning of July 14, Mr. Villa entered a guilty plea and agreed to become a witness for the State. (CP 323) Mr. Gallegos was arraigned on an amended information, and at defense counsel's request the court entered an order setting July 18 for the pre-trial hearing. (CP 375-78; RP 352) On July 18, the deputy prosecutor informed the court that Dr. Wigren would not be able to appear for trial until August 9 at the earliest, and the State's primary investigator would be taking a previously scheduled vacation beginning on July 29. (RP 334) Given the 5-day

delay occasioned by the events of July 14, the time for trial was reasoned to expire on August 20. (RP 352-53) The court set trial to begin with pretrial motions on August 20 and jury selection to begin on August 25. (RP 352-53; CP 379)

The charges against Mr. Gallegos were tried to a jury commencing August 26, 2014. (RP 143-2001)

Jose Pineda told the jury he had known Mike Eby through their mutual friend Duane Martin since April 2012. (RP 1394) Mr. Pineda believed Mr. Martin had stolen some marijuana plants from him during the summer of 2012. (RP 1396) As a result, Mr. Pineda had gone to Troy Whalen's garage, where he assaulted Mr. Martin. (RP 1397) Mr. Eby was there and Mr. Pineda relieved both Mr. Eby and Mr. Martin of their guns. (RP 1397) According to Mr. Pineda, a week after that incident Mr. Eby had asked Mr. Pineda to return his pistol. (RP 1398) Mr. Pineda had told Mr. Eby that he could not return the pistol but that he would provide him with drugs in exchange. (RP 1413)

In the interim Mr. Pineda had been associating with Mr. Eby and had recently bought a car from him in exchange for drugs and some cash. (RP 1414) Some of the cash Mr. Pineda paid to Mr. Eby turned out to be counterfeit, so Mr. Pineda had agreed to reimburse Mr. Eby for the counterfeit money. (RP 1414-15)

On the afternoon of December 20 Mr. Pineda picked up Mr. Villa as he and his wife were on their way to Wal-Mart. (RP 1422) Mr. Villa told him that Mr. Eby had approached a rival gang member and asked to have Mr. Pineda robbed. (RP 1413) Mr. Pineda had already heard about this shortly after the incident involving Mr. Martin. (RP 1414) Since this was the second time Mr. Villa had mentioned it, Mr. Pineda decided to call Mr. Eby and meet up with him. (RP 1421-22) His plan was to have Mr. Eby meet them at Troy Whalen's house. (RP 1422)

Mr. Pineda and his wife and Mr. Villa returned home from shopping some time after dark. (RP 1029) When they returned to Mr. Pineda's home they found Mr. Gallegos parked in the driveway. (RP 1423) The three men then drove to Troy Whalen's house. (RP 1425)

According to Mr. Pineda, as they were driving to Mr. Whalen's he told Mr. Gallegos he was "gonna go talk to somebody about setting, possibly setting me up." (RP 1448) Mr. Pindea testified: "I just basically let him know I'm gonna talk to him about it, you know, and if he's, he comes out lying about it we're gonna jump him." (RP 1456) According to Mr. Pineda, Mr. Gallegos acquiesced in this plan. (RP 1449, 1456)

Mr. Pineda eventually reached Mr. Eby's daughter Ashleigh and told her he wanted to get hold of her father to give him the money he had promised. (RP 1420) After two phone calls to Mr. Eby, in which Mr.

Pineda promised to give him the money, Mr. Eby agreed to meet with him. (RP 1421, 1450)

After Mr. Eby arrived at Mr. Whelan's garage they talked and smoked some meth. (RP 1457) Mr. Pineda asked Mr. Villa to invite Mr. Pederson, who was sitting outside in Mr. Eby's car, to come inside. (RP 1457-58)

Eventually Mr. Pineda accused Mr. Eby of trying to set him up: "Is that true you're trying to rob me? Something like that." (RP 1462) Mr. Eby initially denied the charge, then acknowledged he might have said something like that, but it was before he had gotten to know Mr. Pineda. (RP 1463) Mr. Pineda asked Mr. Villa to confirm the threat, Mr. Villa telephoned Mr. Campos who confirmed that Mr. Eby was trying to have Mr. Pineda set up. (RP 1463, 1466) Mr. Pineda testified that, as soon as Mr. Campos confirmed the allegation, "Mike Eby kind of just took off on me and started punching me." (RP 1466) Mr. Pineda told the jury that as he was getting hit he heard a gunshot. (RP 1471) According to Mr. Pineda, then Mr. Eby stopped moving, Mr. Gallegos pulled him off and shot him again. (RP 1471-72)

After dragging Mr. Eby's body to the middle of the room, Mr. Pineda gave his gun to Mr. Villa and told him to take Mr. Pederson inside the house. (RP 1475, 1481) Mr. Pineda told the jury: "Mr. Gallegos

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