FILED
January 20, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 32841-4-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

MARCO ANTONIO GALLEGOS, Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC
Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney
128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329
Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. GALLEGOS HAS FAILED TO PROVE THAT HIS ATTORNEY'S DECISION TO FORGO WPIC 6.05 WAS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

In Strickland v. Washington, the United States Supreme Court set forth the prevailing standard under the Sixth Amendment for reversal of criminal convictions based on ineffective assistance of counsel. 466 U.S. 668; 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). Under Strickland, the analysis begins with a “strong presumption that counsel’s performance was reasonable.” State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). It involves a two-pronged inquiry:

First, the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient. This

¹ The State had amended the charge prior to trial. Gallegos was convicted as charged.

requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel’s errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction ... resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687.

Ineffective assistance of counsel is a fact-based determination that is “generally not amenable to per se rules.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696 (“Most important, in adjudicating a claim of actual ineffectiveness of counsel, a court should keep in mind that the principles we have stated do not establish mechanical rules. Although those principles should guide the process of decision, the ultimate focus of the inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged.”).

1. Gallegos has failed to show that his trial lawyer’s performance was deficient.

A lawyer’s performance is deficient if it falls “below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. The threshold for the deficient performance prong is high, given the deference afforded to decisions of defense counsel in the course of representation.

Accordingly, the defendant bears the burden of establishing deficient performance. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 332, 335, 889 P.2d 1251 (1995).

“When counsel’s conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, performance is not deficient.” Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 863; State v. Garrett, 124 Wn.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 (1994) (“[T]his court will not find ineffective assistance of counsel if ‘the actions of counsel complained of go to the theory of the case or to trial tactics.’” (quoting State v. Renfro, 96 Wn.2d 902, 909, 639 P.2d 737 (1982))). Conversely, a criminal defendant can rebut the presumption of reasonable performance by demonstrating that “there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel’s performance.” State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004); State v. Aho, 137 Wn.2d 736, 745-46, 975 P.2d 512 (1999). Not all strategies or tactics on the part of defense counsel are immune from attack. “The relevant question is not whether counsel’s choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable.” Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000) (finding that the failure to consult with a client about the possibility of appeal is usually unreasonable).

Finally, “[a] fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to

reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

WPIC 6.05 states as follows:

Testimony of an accomplice, given on behalf of the State, should be subjected to careful examination in the light of other evidence in the case, and should be acted upon with great caution. You should not find the defendant guilty upon such testimony alone unless, after carefully considering the testimony, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of its truth.

11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 6.05, at 184 (3d ed. 2008) (WPIC). WPIC 6.05 should be given "if requested by the defense." Note on Use to WPIC 6.05. Here, it was not requested.

But the defense counsel's decision to forgo a cautionary accomplice instruction could have been a reasonable trial strategy. Although the codefendants testified for the State, some of their testimony also helped Gallegos. Villa testified that it was Pineda who was calling the shots. RP 1724. He testified that Gallegos didn't say anything before or after the first shooting or at the dam. RP 1724. He also testified that Gallegos was the only one not doing drugs in Whalen's garage. RP 1739. Pineda testified that he only planned on confronting Mr. Eby and

“checking” him.² RP 1420. He admitted on cross-examination that he only initially identified Mr. Eby’s shooter as “some dude.” RP 1535-6.

Furthermore, Whalen testified that he didn’t see the shootings but only heard gunshots. RP 1307, 1333. He testified that Pineda was the one directing things after the shooting. For example, Whalen said Pineda asked for a sheet, handed Villa a pistol, asked Whalen to help lift the body into the trunk, asked Whalen to drive his car to the Canyon and then to another’s house, and told everyone “this stays between us 4.” RP 1308, 1318. All of this testimony, while it came from State’s witnesses, was helpful for the defense, who wanted to point to Pineda as more culpable than Gallegos. And each party is entitled to the benefit of the evidence regardless of whether it comes from the State or the defense. See WPIC 1.02. As such, in view of this testimony, it was a legitimate tactical decision to forgo the instruction. Defense counsel would not want to undermine all of the codefendants’ testimony by adding a cautionary instruction regarding their testimony.

The fact that parts of the codefendants’ testimony helped Gallegos is also apparent from his attorney’s closing argument. In closing

² “Checking” someone means means holding someone accountable and the level of violence used will be greater if an outsider is getting checked. RP 1837-8.

argument, Gallegos's attorney relied on the testimony of Villa to bolster his client's defense. RP 1977. He stated:

There's no evidence that anybody testified to other than well this is what we hear whatever that Mr. Gallegos threatened anybody in this case. Heriberto Villa went so far as to say he'd never been threatened by anyone in this case. The only thing that he was saying about Mr. Gallegos talking to him was tell him I wasn't there. Didn't say he threatened him. Tell them I wasn't there. Why else would he be saying tell them I wasn't there?

Later on, he relies on more testimony of Villa:

Although Villa said that Pineda was not the shot caller. He did everything. Gallegos didn't really say anything not on the drive, not at the house, nothing until prompted he, he said he walked out and had a gun in his hand as Pederson was walking out but as, as he's telling the story he doesn't say that Gallegos did anything. There's a good, good reason for that because Mr. Gallegos didn't do anything.

And yet another time, he refers to Villa's testimony in support of his case:

But Villa says that those dudes would have shot me. He doesn't say Dabs would have shot me. He doesn't say Gallegos would have shot me.

RP1921. He also points out that the witnesses across the board, testified that Gallegos was "not into meth." RP 1982. In closings, the defense attorney multiple times referred to Pineda's testimony that he used

Gallegos's name in the past to get out of a charge. RP 1984, 1979. This was all clearly helpful to the defense case.

Furthermore, the testimony of each individual codefendant was cross-corroborated by the testimony of two other codefendants. This case didn't rest solely on one person's word. Mr. Eby's father and daughter, as well as David Campos and Ashli Pineda, also corroborated the testimony of the accomplices. Ashleigh Eby, Mr. Eby's daughter, confirmed that her father was going to meet "Loks" the night he disappeared. RP 641, 804. She testified that "Loks" owed her dad \$600. RP 677-8. And that on the night of the murder, "Loks" was trying to get ahold of her dad and she relayed that to him. RP 679. When she spoke to her dad, she could hear Mr. Pederson in the car with him. RP 702. Mr. Eby's father also confirmed that his son went to Whalen's house to see a person that owed him money. RP 729-31.

Mr. Campos confirmed that Mr. Eby solicited him to "jack Loks." RP 1792. He also confirmed that he was called on the night of the murder to confirm what Mr. Eby had asked of him. RP 1793-4. Phone records showed that Mr. Eby and Pineda were calling Mr. Campos around the same time, 10:34 p.m. RP 1797, 1802. Both were calling from the same vicinity. RP 1797. Phone records showed that after the phone call to Mr.

Campos, Mr. Eby's phone stopped receiving calls eight minutes later. RP 1804.

Ashli Pineda, Pineda's wife, testified that Gallegos was at her house when she and Pineda got back from Walmart on the evening of the murder. RP 1051. She said that Gallegos left with her husband. RP 1053. She then heard them later that night after she had gone to bed. RP 1053. Villa was with them as well and possibly another person. RP 1053-4. They came inside her home and were talking. RP 1053. They were there for about 30 minutes and then everyone left except for her husband. RP 1055.

In addition to lay testimony, there was physical evidence that corroborated the testimony of the accomplices. The forensic pathologist testified that Mr. Eby's cause of death was three gunshot wounds, each of which could be capable of causing death. RP 560. One gunshot wound was mid-chest, one was to the right upper arm, and one was to his head. RP 548-556.

He also testified about Mr. Pederson's cause of death. He observed a gunshot wound to Mr. Pederson's head and shoulder. RP 508-521. He gave an opinion that the gunshot wound that impacted the eye, the brain, and caused skull fractures was the lethal wound. RP 521. The

description of the gunshot wounds by the forensic pathologist was consistent with the testimony given by Whalen, Pineda, and Villa.

Furthermore, cell phone tower data was consistent with the testimony of the accomplices. That data showed that Mr. Eby and Pineda were in the general area of Whalen's garage. RP 800-802. Mr. Eby's phone stopped emitting a signal at 10:41 pm the night he was murdered. This is consistent with testimony that his phone was tossed into the fireplace in Whalen's garage. Pineda's last phone call was at 11:57 pm, consistent with testimony that his phone was tossed out the window of the car on the way back from the canyon. RP 802, 1707.

Physical evidence later found in Whalen's garage also corroborated the testimony of the accomplices. A photo was found showing a blanket on a couch inside of Whalen's home. The blanket was the same one that was wrapped around Mr. Eby's body. RP 933. A sheet was found that also matched the one found on Mr. Eby. RP 939. What appeared to be part of an Apple iPhone was found in the fireplace and Mr. Eby's phone was an Apple iPhone. RP 941-2. There was a folding camp chair belonging to Mr. Eby's father that was found outside the garage. RP 946. The chair had been kept in the trunk of Mr. Eby's car and was likely moved to make room for Mr. Eby's body.

Officers also found multiple types of wire that were similar to that wrapped around Mr. Eby's body. RP 943. In addition, the matching end of a cut electrical cord that powered a fireplace fan was found. RP 943. The cord had been cut and wrapped around Mr. Eby. This, along with other facts, corroborated testimony that Mr. Eby's murder occurred in Whalen's garage. RP 950. Furthermore, blood found on a chair was sent to the crime lab and confirmed to be that of Duane Martin, confirming Pineda's account that on a prior occasion, he beat Mr. Martin in his garage after learning that Mr. Martin stole marijuana plants from him. RP 1200-5, 1397-99.

Expert testimony was also consistent with the testimony of the cooperating witnesses. Forensic scientist Rick Wyant testified as an expert for the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab. RP 987. He examined several bullets, bullet fragments, and fired cartridge cases. RP 997. His analysis supported the witnesses' testimony that two separate guns were involved in the killing of Mr. Eby and of Mr. Pederson.

Mr. Wyant examined a bullet and bullet fragments relating to Mr. Eby (Exhibits 99, 100, and 102) and found that they were all fired from the same non-Glock firearm. RP 1013-5, 1017-9, 1021, 1031. However, the fired bullet and fragments (Exhibits 93 and 105) relating to Mr. Pederson were both fired from a Glock-type firearm. RP 1007, 1031.

Furthermore, Mr. Wyant concluded that the cartridge cases found in Mr. Eby's car (Exhibits 103 and 104) were fired from the same gun and consistent with the bullet and fragments recovered from the car. RP 584-90, 1031. In sum, because the testimony of each accomplice was substantially corroborated through other witnesses, cell records, expert testimony, and physical evidence, it was not reversible error for Gallegos's attorney to forgo seeking WPIC 6.05.

2. Gallegos has failed to show that deficient performance prejudiced his defense.

To satisfy the prejudice prong of the Strickland test, Gallegos must establish that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceedings would have been different." Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 862. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694; Garrett, 124 Wn.2d at 519. In assessing prejudice, "a court should presume, absent challenge to the judgment on grounds of evidentiary insufficiency, that the judge or jury acted according to the law" and must "exclude the possibility of arbitrariness, whimsy, caprice, 'nullification' and the like." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694-95.

To prove prejudice, Gallegos must prove the jury would probably have acquitted him if his lawyer had proposed WPIC 6.05. See State v.

Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 883-84, 822 P.2d 177 (1991). Gallegos's lawyer ably revealed the inconsistencies and biases of the witnesses. For example, he pointed out inconsistencies in each codefendant's testimony, RP 1975-6,1978-9,1980-1,1984. He described how they were all meth users. RP 1982. He talked about the deals that they made with the State and how they all had "a lot to lose." RP 1984. Every inconsistency or bias that could have been raised with these witnesses was raised and laid out for the jury to consider.

The fact that they entered into cooperation agreements was made clear. The defense attorney also told them to be skeptical of what the witnesses were saying. RP 1984. And the jury learned not only about the cooperation agreements, but also learned about the gang lifestyle of the witnesses and their using and selling drug. It was abundantly clear that the cooperating witnesses were involved in illegal activities. Furthermore, the jury was instructed to consider the biases and prejudices of the testifying witnesses. WPIC 1.02.³ As such, a cautionary instruction in this case would not have caused the jury to acquit Gallegos.

³ WPIC 1.02 states: "You are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness. You are also the sole judges of the value or weight to be given to the testimony of each witness. In considering a witness's testimony, you may consider these things: the opportunity of the witness to observe or know the things he or she testifies about; the ability of the witness to observe accurately; the quality of a witness's memory while testifying; the manner of the witness while testifying; any personal interest that the witness might have in the outcome or the issues; any bias or prejudice that the witness may have shown; the reasonableness of the witness's statements in the context of all of the other evidence; and

B. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT FOR THE JURY TO FIND PREMEDITATION.

Gallegos claims that there is insufficient evidence of aggravated first degree murder in that the murder of Mr. Eby was without premeditation. In reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, courts review the evidence in the light most favorable to the State to determine whether *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wash. 2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)). The verdict will be upheld unless no reasonable jury could have found each element proved beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 596-97, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995).

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